#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| STEPHEN LLOYD OSBORNE, Appellant, | )                              |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| VS.                               | ) CASE NO. SC01-973<br>)       |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.       | )<br>)<br>)                    |
| AN APPEAL FROM THE                | FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL |

#### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Blaise Trettis
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar No. 0748099
2725 Judge Fran Jamieson Way
Building E, Second Floor
Melbourne, FL 32940
(321) 617-7373

####

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 16, 1999, the state filed a petition for civil commitment seeking the involuntary commitment of appellant as a sexually violent predator pursuant to section 394.914 Fla. Stat. (1999), et seq. (R.55). In the state's petition for civil commitment, the state asserted the following regarding petitioner's release date from his term of imprisonment in the department of corrections: "DOC has established September 16, 1999, as the date Respondent's sentence will end and the date upon which he will be released from DOC custody." (R.61).

Based upon the commitment petition and its attachments, the circuit court, on September 16, 1999, the same day that the petition was filed, entered an order finding probable cause existed to believe that appellant met the statutory definition of a sexually violent predator. (R.104). The order further directed that appellant "should be detained for further proceedings under the Jimmy Ryce Act." (R.104). A warrant for custodial detention, issued that same day, directed that the Department of Corrections transfer appellant to the custody of the Department of Children and Families upon the expiration of his incarcerative sentence. (R.105).

On December 17, 1999, appellant filed a motion to dismiss state's petition for civil commitment as sexually violent predator. (R.123). In the "statement of facts" section of appellant's motion to dismiss, the appellant asserted the following regarding the date of appellant's release from prison:

"1. On September 16, 1999 petitioner's prison sentence expired and he was released from the custody of the Florida Department of Corrections." (R.124).

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion to dismiss on February 14, 2000. (R.12-53). At that hearing, counsel for appellant summarized the factual history of the case:

The facts are simple and uncontroverted. The State filed its petition, the Court entered an order finding probable cause that Mr. Osborne met the criteria for the statute. That probable cause order was filed on September sixteenth, 1999, the same day that Mr. Osborne was released from prison.

On September twenty-second, 1999, Mr. Osborne was brought before the Court, Judge Burk presiding, for the appointment of counsel. At that hearing there was actually another one of these cases before Judge Burk as well, his name was Mr. Staton. At that hearing, myself pointed out to the Court that Mr. Staton had not even brought to court within thirty days of the order finding probable cause and that the Court did not have jurisdiction over him any longer and that I would file a - - some petition in the Supreme Court or the District Court of Appeal based on a violation of Section 394.196, Paragraph 1. So that statute was specifically argued and noted at that September twenty-second hearing.

When Mr. Osborne's case was called up, counsel was appointed and absolutely no further action was taken. Another court date was not set. No party, either Respondent, the State or the Court, made any inquiry whatsoever about a trial date. No one made a motion for a continuance of the trial date.

After the thirty days had expired, I filed this motion to dismiss State's petition. (R.16,17).

The State filed a response to the motion to dismiss.

(R.141). Neither at the hearing held on the motion to dismiss nor in the state's written response to the motion to dismiss did the state ever allege that the appellant did not expire his prison sentence on September 16, 1999, the same day that the state filed its petition for civil commitment as a sexually violent predator.

After hearing argument from counsel at the hearing held on the motion to dismiss on February 14, 2000, the court granted the motion to dismiss and signed an order which dismissed the state's petition and which ordered the immediate release of the appellant from his civil incarceration.  $(SR.1-2)^1$ 

<sup>&</sup>quot;SR." refers to the supplemental record on appeal.
Although appellant never actually received a copy of a supplemental record, appellant has reason to believe a supplemental record does exist because the state's motion to supplement record on appeal to include the written order of dismissal was granted in the district court of appeal.

The state appealed the dismissal of the petition to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. In State v. Osborne, 781 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), the court rejected appellant's argument that the state lacked authority to appeal the dismissal because the Ryce Act does not provide that the state has a right to appeal. The district court's disposition of the appellant's argument reads as follows in its entirety:

Before addressing the merits of the State's appeal, we must consider Osborne's contention that the State lacks authority to appeal the instant dismissal order because no such right of appeal is expressly provided for in the Act. We reject this contention as meritless because the State possesses the same right to appeal as any other party in a civil proceeding; therefore, an express grant is not necessary for each statutorily-created cause of action. See Art. V, § 4b, Fla. Const; Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla.1996).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in the Osborne decision reversed the trial court's dismissal of the petition. Appellant filed his notice of appeal in the district court of appeal and argued in his jurisdictional brief in the Supreme Court that the Fifth District's holding that a litigant in a civil case has a constitutional right to a direct appeal under Article V, § 4(b) of the Florida Constitution directly conflicts with the Court's decisions

in Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure,
696 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1996) and State v. Creighton, 469 So.2d
735 (Fla. 1985). Appellant also argued in his
jurisdictional brief that the Osborne decision expressly
construed a provision of the Florida Constitution.

Pursuant to the order of the Supreme Court, proceedings in the Osborne case were stayed until the case of State v.

Darren Jerome Goode, No. SC01-28, was decided in the Supreme Court. Appellant has thus been released from his civil incarceration by the Department of Children and Families since his release pursuant to the February 14, 2000 order of the circuit court.<sup>2</sup> In State v. Goode, 830 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2002), the court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the state's petition for civil commitment and held that the 30 day trial period in the Ryce Act was mandatory but not necessarily jurisdictional. In Goode, the Court disapproved of the Osborne opinion to the extent that it is inconsistent with the Court's Goode opinion. Goode at 830.

On October 10, 2003 the Court accepted jurisdiction of appellant's case and ordered the parties to brief, "all relevant issues, including the proper remedy when there is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appellant was arrested, on the state's ex parte application for warrant, and incarcerated for a few weeks in 2001 after the <u>Osborne</u> decision in the district court of appeal. Later, the circuit court released appellant due to the fact that the state did not appeal the order of release in the <u>Osborne</u> case before the district court of appeal.

violation of the thirty (30) day time period in accord with State v. Goode, 830 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2002), and State v.
Kinder, 830 So.2d 832 (Fla. 2002)."

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The state does not have the right to appeal the dismissal of its petition for commitment. The Ryce Act confers the right to appeal only upon the respondent and not the state. The district court of appeal in the instant case incorrectly held that the Florida Constitution confers the right to appeal upon the state. The Florida Supreme Court has never receded from its previous holdings that the right to appeal in civil cases in conferred by statute – and not by the Constitution.

If the Court decides that the state does have the ability to appeal, then the district court of appeal's opinion in the instant case should be reversed under the authority of <a href="State v. Goode">State v. Goode</a>, 830 So.2d 817 (Fla. 2002), which has the same facts as the instant case.

#### I.

# THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT HAVE JURISDICTION TO DECIDE THE INSTANT CASE BECAUSE NEITHER THE RYCE ACT NOR THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION CONFER ANY APPEAL RIGHTS UPON THE STATE OF FLORIDA

The Fifth District Court of Appeal held in the instant case that a litigant in a civil case has a right to appeal guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. This holding directly contradicts the holdings of the Supreme Court in <a href="State v. Creighton">State v. Creighton</a>, 469 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1985) and <a href="Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure">Appellate Procedure</a>, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1996). However, in reaching its decision in the instant case, the district court of appeal cited as authority, incorrectly appellant submits, the Supreme Court's holding in the <a href="Amendments">Amendments</a> case:

Before addressing the merits of the State's appeal, we must consider Osborne's contention that the State lacks authority to appeal the instant dismissal order because no such right of appeal is expressly provided for in the Act. We reject this contention as meritless because the State possesses the same right to appeal as any other party in a civil proceeding; therefore, an express grant is not necessary for each statutorily-created cause of action. See Art. V, § 4(b), Fla. Const.; Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1996).

The district court of appeal's reliance on the <u>Amendments</u> decision is erroneous because the <u>Amendments</u> decision does not hold, or even imply, that a litigant in a civil case has a right to appeal guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. In the <u>Amendments</u> decision the Court held that the Florida Constitution does guarantee a citizen's right to appeal in a criminal case. The Supreme Court left intact its previous holding in <u>State v. Creighton</u> that the right of litigants to appeal in civil cases is governed by statute and is not guaranteed by the Florida Constitution. Creighton at 740.

The right to appeal is a matter of substantive law controlled by statute in both criminal and civil cases. See <a href="State v. Creighton">State v. Creighton</a>, 469 So.2d 735, 739-740 (Fla. 1985); <a href="State v. Brown">State v. Brown</a>, 330 So.2d 535, 536 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) ("Appellate review of any order or judgement entered by a trial court is not a right derived from the common law; it is derived from the sovereign."). Thus, it is the state,

through its promulgation of statutes, that determines whether or not an appeal will lie. The Ryce Act does not confer upon the state the right to appeal under any circumstances. The only right to appeal conferred by the act is the respondent's right to appeal a determination that the respondent is a sexually violent predator. See § 394.917(1) Fla. Stat. (1999) ("The determination that a person is a sexually violent predator may be appealed.").

### A. The Florida Constitution Does Not Confer the Right to Appeal Upon the State.

The Florida Supreme Court has held that Article V, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution does not confer appellate rights upon litigants in either criminal or civil cases. State v. Creighton, 469 So.2d 735, 739-740 (Fla. 1985)("But we must look at the language actually used, and that language indicates that the question of when an aggrieved litigant is entitled to an appeal is a matter to be determined by sources of authority other than the constitution. . .the present constitutional language merely allocates jurisdiction rather than conferring appeal rights. . . We note that the right of litigants to appeal in non-criminal cases is governed by statute as well. One would expect this as a matter of logical consistency.").

In Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate

Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1996), the Court receded

from its decision in Creighton to make it clear that the

constitution would provide protection of the right to appeal

if the legislature were ever to thwart a litigant's

legitimate appellate rights. The extent to which the Court receded from its decision in <a href="Creighton">Creighton</a> and the purpose of the Court's clarification of <a href="Creighton">Creighton</a> must be considered in light of the facts of the <a href="Amendments">Amendments</a> case. In the <a href="Amendments">Amendments</a> case, the Court was considering the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 which conflicted with the rules of appellate procedure. The rules of appellate procedure committee, as well as public defenders and others argued that the Act was procedural in nature and could not override the Court's rules of appellate procedure. On the other hand, the attorney general argued that the Act's provisions were substantive and therefore controlling. <a href="Amendments">Amendments</a> at 696.

The Court, in the Amendments decision, emphasized that the issue in Creighton was whether the state had a constitutional right to appeal: "However, the issue in Creighton was whether the State had a constitutional right to appeal." Amendments at 1104. Conversely, the Amendments case addressed a new limitation by the legislature which would restrict a citizen's right to appeal. When the Amendments decision is considered in its context, it is clear that the Court was eliminating any doubt as to its view that the constitution does protect a citizen's right to appeal. The Amendments decision cannot reasonably be read

to mean that the state ever has a constitutional right to appeal. Such an interpretation cannot be reconciled with the purpose of the Constitution which is to prescribe and limit government powers, and to secure individual rights. See Tibbetts v. Olson, 108 So. 679 (Fla. 1926); Getzen v. Sumter County, 103 So. 104 (Fla. 1925); Whitaker v. Parsons, 86 So. 247 (Fla. 1920). It must be remembered that Article I of the Florida Constitution - the Declaration of Rights guarantees only persons - and not the state - inalienable rights. The constitution does not guarantee the state any rights to due process of law (art. I, § 9) or access to courts (art. I, § 21). The fact that the citizen only and not the state - is the beneficiary of constitutional protections was recognized in Gardner v. State, 530 So.2d 404, 405 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) where the court held it was reversible error for the trial court to apply the exclusionary rule to the defense and disallow the introduction of the defendant's evidence: "In this case, the assistant state attorney led the trial court to erroneously apply this principle of law to the defense. The State does not have constitutional due process rights to which the exclusionary rule applies." Gardner at 405.

It must also be remembered that there is no concept of "fundamental fairness" in the constitution that would in any

way confer a right to appeal upon the state in a Ryce Act case. It is the legislature's prerogative to enact legislation that the Court may believe is fundamentally unfair to the state. It would be unconstitutional for the Court to rewrite the Ryce Act or "judicially add" provisions to the Act in an attempt to provide a degree of fairness to the state that the legislature decided would not be included in the Act.

In Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate

Procedure, supra, the Court concluded that the constitution would provide protection to the right to appeal if the legislature were ever to thwart a "litigants'" legitimate appellate rights: "Therefore, we now recede from Creighton to the extent that we construe the language of article V, section 4(b) as a constitutional protection of the right to appeal. However, we believe that the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>On the other hand, because it was the legislature's prerogative to enact the Ryce Act and because the legislature decided to write it the way that it did, the court may not be concerned at all with the fact that the Ryce Act does not confer on the state the right to appeal dismissal of cases. In <a href="State v. J.P.W.">State v. J.P.W.</a>, 433 So.2d 616, 618 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), the court stated, "The lack of recourse by the state to a right of review of final judgements in juvenile proceedings does not shock the judicial conscience of this court. Consequently, there is no incentive to grasp at straws in an attempt to remedy an untenable situation."

conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights." Creighton at 1104. (footnote omitted). In decisions subsequent to the Amendments opinion, the Court made it clear that the word "litigants'" in the Amendments decision referred to criminal defendants. In State v. Jefferson, 758 So.2d 661,664 (Fla. 2000), the Court made this abundantly clear:

Article V, section 4(b), which grants the district courts' jurisdiction to hear criminal appeals, also grants criminal defendants a constitutional right to an appeal. See id.; Amendments, 696 So.2d at 1104. In a previous opinion upholding the Criminal Appeals Reform Act against constitutional attack, this Court stated that

we believe that the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights. Of course, this Court continues to have jurisdiction over the practice and procedure relating to appeals.

*Id.* At 1104-05 (emphasis supplied) (footnote omitted).

The Court, in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 823 So.2d 757, 762 (Fla. 2002), reiterated that the word "litigants'" in the <u>Amendments</u> decision referred to only criminal defendants and not the state:

"Article V, section 4(b), which grants the district court's jurisdiction to hear criminal appeals, also grants criminal defendants a constitutional right to an appeal." State v.

13

Jefferson, 758 So.2d 661,664 (Fla.2000); see Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla.1996)(construing "the language of article V, section 4(b) as a constitutional protection of the right to appeal"). However, "the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights." State v. Jefferson, 758 So.2d 661,664 (Fla.2000).

The district courts of appeal have also held that the Court's reference to "litigants'" in the Amendments decision includes only the citizen and not the state:

- Peterson v. State, 775 So.2d 376,378 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("Although a defendant has no federal constitutional right to state court appellate review of a criminal conviction, Estelle v. Dorrough, 420 U.S. 534, 95 S.Ct. 1173, 43 L.Ed.2d 377 (1975), Article V, section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution does grant criminal defendants such a right. Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla.1996).1" (footnote omitted).
- 2. State v. Allen, 743 So.2d 532, 533-534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) ("At the outset we acknowledge that the state's right to appeal depends entirely on the applicability of the statute. The supreme court held in State v. Creighton, 469 So.2d 735 (Fla. 1985), that the state's right to appeal an order in a criminal case is purely statutory. Although the court receded in part from Creighton in the opinion adopting the latest revision of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, See Amendments to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996), that opinion does not expand the state's right to appeal. Rejecting dicta in Creighton to the contrary, the supreme court said that the right of a citizen to appeal a final order is derived from the Florida Constitution and that it does not depend on the existence of legislation. The court left intact its holding in Creighton that the state's right to appeal depends on the existence of a statute.

Consequently, the state's right to appeal the order in this case turns on the meaning of the

statute purporting to authorize the appeal.") (emphasis supplied).

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