IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-973

STEPHEN LLOYD OSBORNE,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. As sexually violent predator commitment proceedings are civil in nature, the State has the same right as any other litigant to appeal a final order disposing of the case. There is no need for an express statutory authorization for the State, as that entitlement flows from the Florida Constitution.

II. In prior decisions, this Court has held that the 30-day trial period of the sexually violent predators commitment act is mandatory. However, the two opinions from this Court approved different remedies used by lower courts - dismissal in one case; release pending trial in the other. As a result, clarification would be beneficial. Since the concerns addressed in the prior decisions are with lengthy pretrial detentions without evidentiary hearings, the remedy of release pending trial is a remedy which should be viable, as that remedy satisfies the concerns addressed by this Court in its prior opinions. The Court should further conclude that any dismissal for non-compliance with the 30-day trial period should be without prejudice, even after the prior incarceration with the Department of Corrections has been completed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE STATE HAD THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE ORDER DISMISSING THE SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS.

Osborne initially argues that the lower court erred in holding that the State has the right to appeal an order of dismissal entered in a sexually violent predators civil commitment proceedings. Preliminarily, the State notes that all five District Courts of Appeal have routinely been deciding state-initiated appeals under the sexually violent predators civil commitment act on the merits. Although the opinion issued by the Fifth District herein is the only published opinion to address this issue, it is clear that all of the District Courts of Appeal recognize that they have jurisdiction to entertain such appeals.²

Should this Court proceed to consider this argument on the merits, it is clear

² Among the appeals taken by the State, resulting in published opinions by the District Courts of Appeal, are the following: <u>State v. Jones</u>, 764 So. 2d 655 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000); <u>State v. Mitchell</u>, 848 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 2003 WL 22259634 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); <u>State v. Goode</u>, 779 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); <u>State v. Siddal</u>, 772 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000); <u>State v. The Commitment of Timms</u>, 849 So.2 d 462 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); <u>State v. Robbins</u>, 785 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001); <u>State v. Brewer</u>, 767 So. 2d 1249 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); <u>State v. Rompre</u>, 837 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). As the foregoing are merely published opinions, it would obviously be reasonable to infer that there are other state appeals that the district courts of appeal have entertained and summarily affirmed on the merits.

that the State has the same right to appeal a final order in a civil proceeding as any other litigant in a civil case.

Osborne's argument is premised on <u>State v. C.C.</u>, 476 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1985), which, in turn, was based on <u>State v. Creighton</u>, 469 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 1985), a case which has been expressly overruled by this Court. Furthermore, <u>Creighton</u> involved the question of whether the State had the right to appeal a final order in a <u>criminal</u> case, absent express statutory authorization; it did not involve an appeal in a <u>civil</u> case. <u>Creighton</u> needs to be understood in its evolutionary context.

In 1964, this Court, construing Article V of the Florida Constitution (1956), held that the right to appeal from final judgments was self executing, and did not require express statutory authorization. <u>Crownover v. Shannon</u>, 170 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1964). The relevant language in Article V was amended, in 1972, and the addition of the word "that" became the focus of <u>Creighton</u>, which addressed the State's right to appeal an order granting a post-verdict judgment of acquittal in a criminal case. According to the Court in <u>Creighton</u>, the 1972 amendment to article V altered the conclusions ensuing from the 1956 version of Article V and from <u>Crownover</u>, and, as a result of the amended language, the right to appeal the final judgment was no longer a matter of right, and was no longer self-executing absent express statutory authorization. Thus, the Court, in <u>Creighton</u>, "reaffirm[ed] the principle that <u>the state's right of appeal in</u> criminal cases depends on statutory authorization and is governed strictly by statute."

469 So. 2d at 740.

In the process of reaching that conclusion, the Court, in dicta, addressed civil cases as well:

Moreover, during the period from 1957 through 1972, when the language underlying the <u>Crownover</u> decision (a civil case) was in effect, the courts of Florida continued to operate under the assumption that the state's right of appeal in criminal cases was governed by statute. [citations omitted]. Cases decided after the 1972 revision of article V still recognize the right of appeal as a matter of substantive law controllable by statute not only in criminal cases but in civil cases as well. [citations omitted].

469 So. 2d at 739-40.

In 1996, in the aftermath of the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996, which

purported to place limits on a defendant's right to appeal in criminal cases, the Court

revisited the foregoing issues, and effectively concluded that its prior analysis in

Creighton was erroneous:

... we did not consider in *Creighton* the fact that nowhere in the voluminous documents which reflect the history and intent of the 1972 revision of article V is there any suggestion that the revisers intended to remove from the constitution the right to appeal. <u>Therefore, we now recede</u> from *Creighton* to the extent that we construe the language of article V, section 4(b) as a constitutional protection of the right to appeal. However, we believe that the legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights.

<u>Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 696 So. 2d 1103, 1104-1105 (Fla. 1996). The "legislature may implement this constitutional right and place reasonable conditions upon it so long as they do not thwart the litigants' legitimate appellate rights." <u>Id</u>. at 1104. In a concurring opinion, Justice Anstead emphasized that the <u>Creighton</u> analysis of the 1972 constitutional amendment was flawed and that the <u>Creighton</u> opinion, as to matters other than the State's right to appeal in criminal cases, was dicta. 696 So. 2d at 1107. Thus, the 1972 constitutional language "provid[ed] for appeals to the district courts as a matter of right from final judgments and orders of trial courts. . . ." <u>Id</u>. at 1111. "A plain reading of these provisions reveals that the constitution explicitly provides for appeals as a matter of right from final judgments and orders. . . ." <u>Id</u>.

Osborne asserts that the constitutional right to appeal is one which pertains only to "citizens," not to the State. In support of that position, Osborne relies, *inter alia*, on <u>State v. Allen</u>, 743 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). <u>Allen</u>, however, is a criminal case in which the State was seeking to appeal the reduction of a restitution claim; it was not a civil case. Furthermore, the relevant language in Article V, section 4(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution is that "District courts of appeal shall have jurisdiction to

hear appeals, that may be taken as a matter of right, from final judgments or orders of trial courts. . . ." The Constitution does not refer to appeals "as a matter of right" from citizens, or from parties other than the State; it is the character of the final judgment, not the character of the party, which is dispositive.

This Court, in <u>Creighton</u>, set forth an erroneous grammatical construction of the "right to appeal" language in Article V, section 4. The Court, recognizing its flawed interpretation of the constitutional provision, has taken steps to undo the prior misreading. 696 So. 2d at 1104-05. The grammatical misconstruction of <u>Creighton</u> should not be replaced, at this point, with an equally improper construction of the "right to appeal" language, which makes no distinction as to the nature of the party seeking appellate review. If there is a constitutional right to appeal final judgments, it is a constitutional right of all litigants appearing in this State's courts

Osborne's reliance on <u>C.C.</u> adds nothing to the analysis derived from <u>Creighton</u>, as <u>C.C.</u> was based entirely on <u>Creighton</u>. For purposes of the analysis under <u>Creighton</u>, juvenile cases were treated as "criminal in nature." 476 So. 2d at 146.

In any event, to whatever extent <u>Creighton</u> still remains viable in the aftermath of this Court's decision to recede from it, its reasoning as to the State is uniquely related to the criminal context, as it was based on common law limitations of the state's right to seek an appeal in criminal cases. 469 So. 2d at 740 and n. 7. As the instant civil commitment proceedings are entirely statutory in nature, they do not have any such common law limitations. Thus, in Creighton, the Court reaffirmed "the principle that the state's right of appeal in criminal cases depends on statutory authorization and is governed strictly by statute." Id. at 740 (emphasis added). The foregoing point is the subject of a recent law review article. See, Marks, Thomas C., Jr., "The State of Florida is not as Entitled to a Fair Trial or Right of Appeal in its own Courts as a Criminal or Juvenile Defendant," 29 Stetson Law Rev. 325 (1999). The author points out that the reason for the principle that the State's right to appeal was contingent upon statutory authorization derived from the unique aspects of common law review in criminal cases. Thus, it was pointed out that at common law, a "writ of error" was not available to the State in criminal cases. Id. at pp. 327-51. This principle, in turn, is traced back to an early opinion of this Court, <u>State v. Burns</u>, 18 Fla. 185 (1881). As the "writ of error" was unavailable to the State in criminal cases, any right to appeal had to be statutorily authorized. The reasoning has absolutely no validity in the context of civil appeals, as the common law limitation on the "writ of error" was in criminal cases. Neither Creighton nor any other case ever held that the State's right to appeal civil final judgments, under the current Constitution, was in any way dependent upon statutory authorization.

In light of the foregoing, the State would make several points. First, the instant

case is a civil commitment proceeding - a civil case; not a criminal case. Osborne attempts to argue that the commitment cases should also be treated as being partially criminal in nature since they involve restraints on liberty. This argument has no basis. In addition to the Supreme Court of the United States in Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346 (1997), and this Court, in Westerheide v. State, 831 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 2002), appellate courts in other jurisdictions with similar commitment acts have consistently acknowledged that these commitment statutes are civil in nature; they are remedial, protecting the public and providing treatment to those in need of treatment. Thus, such cases have consistently rejected double jeopardy and ex post facto claims which asserted that the commitment proceedings were punitive. See Hubbart v. Superior <u>Court</u>, 969 P. 2d 589 (Cal. 1999); <u>In re Linehan</u>, 557 N.W. 2d 171 (Minn. 1997)³; <u>In</u> re Young, 857 P. 2d 989 (Wash. 1993); State v. Post, 541 N.W. 2d 115 (Wis. 1995); In the Matter of Hay, 953 P. 2d 666 (Kan. 1998); Martin v. Reinstein, 987 P. 2d 779 (Ariz. App. 1999); Grosinger v. M.D. 598 N.W. 2d 799 (N. Dak. 1999); In re Detention of Samuelson, 727 N.E. 2d 228 (Ill. 2000). Osborne attempts to analogize the instant commitment proceeding to juvenile cases, which were treated as criminal

³ <u>Linehan</u> was vacated and remanded for reconsideration in light of <u>Hendricks</u>. <u>Linehan v. Minnesota</u>, 522 U.S. 1011, 118 S.Ct. 596, 139 L.Ed. 2d 486 (1997). The Minnesota Supreme Court reaffirmed its prior conclusions. <u>In re Linehan</u>, 594 N.W. 2d 867 (Minn. 1999).

for purposes of <u>Creighton</u>. That effort is likewise misguided. Juvenile delinquency proceedings are, in part, punitive. Thus, the legislature has stated that for those found to be delinquent, "secure detention is appropriate to provide <u>punishment</u> that discourages further delinquent behavior." Section 985.02(4)(b), Florida Statutes. While the primary purpose of juvenile delinquency proceedings is rehabilitation and treatment, there is a legislatively decreed component which is, in part, for punishment. Thus, P.W.G. v. State, 702 So. 2d 488 (Fla.1997), quotes approvingly from earlier cases, to the effect that "[j]uvenile delinquency proceedings are neither wholly criminal nor civil in nature." 702 So. 2d at 491, quoting State v. Boatman, 329 So. 2d 312-13 (Fla. 1976). Moreover, while juvenile proceedings are governed by their own unique rules of procedure, the legislature has decreed that the involuntary civil commitment cases under the sexually violent predators act shall be governed by the rules of civil procedure, unless otherwise specified. Section 394.9155(1), Florida Statutes (1999). Thus, there is an express legislative mandate to treat these commitment cases as regular civil cases; unlike juvenile cases, involuntary civil commitment cases do not have any criminal component.

By way of analogy, the State would further note that civil contempt cases can likewise entail incarceration as a sanction, while the contempt proceedings retain their civil character; the mere fact of confinement or a restraint of liberty does not convert

the proceeding into either a criminal or a "quasi-criminal" proceeding. See Arena v. Herman, 675 So. 2d 210, 211 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (incarceration appropriate remedy for civil contempt where contempor has ability to pay to purge contempt); Featherstone v. Montana, 684 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) (prior civil contempt order including sanction of incarceration did not pose criminal double jeopardy bar to further contempt proceedings); International Medical Centers, Inc. v. Colavecchio, 563 So. 2d 784, 786 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (civil contempt may include jail sentence if opportunity to purge is provided). Not only are civil contempt proceedings deemed civil in nature notwithstanding the sanction of incarceration, but, when they are appealed, they are appealed in accordance with the rules governing civil appeals. For example, a post-final judgment order of civil contempt was deemed reviewable as an interlocutory appeal as a non-final order entered after a final judgment, under Rule 9.130(a)(4), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Beckwith, 624 So. 2d 395, 397 (Fla. 1993). Other courts have treated civil contempt orders as reviewable as interlocutory appeals under the same rule. Continental Casualty Co. v. Morgan, 445 So. 2d 678 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984); Langbert v. Langbert, 409 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). This Court, and the First District,

have concluded that such civil contempt orders are non-final,⁴ but since they are not specified as appealable orders under Rule 9.130, they are reviewable by certiorari. <u>Stewart v Mussoline</u>, 487 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). What is significant, however, is that all of the courts are treating civil contempts, including those with sanctions of incarceration, as subject to analysis, for appellate purposes, as civil appeals or certiorari, not as criminal cases.

Furthermore, to whatever extent a statutory right to appeal a final order may still be needed, the State of Florida has the same statutory right, in a civil case, as does any other civil litigant. Section 59.06(1), addressing matters reviewable on appeal (in civil cases), states that: "All judgments and orders made in any action wherein the trial court: . . . (b) Shall sustain or overrule any motion to dismiss the action may be assigned as error upon any appeal from the final judgment or order in the action."⁵ Thus, the statutory right to appeal from final judgments or orders in civil actions.

Osborne attempts to circumvent section 59.06 by arguing that it created a right only to appeal from causes of action which were recognized at common law.

⁴ They are apparently treated as non-final since the opportunity to purge means that the contempt sanction is not final; it can be removed at the decision of the contemnor.

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